### Modulation of Olfactory Information in the Antennal Lobe of Spodoptera *littoralis*

Anne Sophie Haastrup Kromann

Faculty of Landscape Planning, Horticulture and Agricultural Science Department of Plant Protection Biology Alnarp

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Alnarp 2012 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2012:60

Cover: Cotton Leafworm, Spodoptera littoralis (photo: R. Ignell)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-576-7707-5 © Anne Sophie Haastrup Kromann, Alnarp Print: Repro, Alnarp 2012

#### Modulation of Olfactory Information in the Antennal Lobe of Spodoptera littoralis

#### Abstract

In order to respond appropriately to external stimuli, e.g. odours in the environment, insects have to evaluate these stimuli in a context of relevance and need. These decisions are, in turn, based on internal physiological status, such as mating status.

In the cotton leafworm, *Spodoptera littoralis*, mating induces profound physiological changes that alter the behavioural output to fit with the current needs of the animal. In female *S. littoralis*, mating switches the behavioural attraction from food sources to oviposition sites and concurrently down- and up-regulates olfactory neuron sensitivity. This switch in olfactory sensitivity is correlated with a transient increase in dopamine levels in the primary olfactory brain centres, the antennal lobes.

In male *S. littoralis*, mating induces a transient behavioural and olfactory inhibition towards female-emitted sex pheromone as well as to mating site-related odours. However, responses towards food sources remain constant. The shift in olfactory responsiveness is not correlated with changes in dopamine levels, but may be regulated by neuropeptides expressed in the olfactory system. Distribution patterns of 6 of the most abundant neuropeptides reveal distinct differential expressions within the antennal lobe glomerular array, providing the possibility for selective and state-dependent modulation of the olfactory system.

Keywords: Spodoptera littoralis, olfaction, modulation, mating, neuromodulators

*Author's address:* Anne Sophie Haastrup Kromann, SLU, Department of Plant Protection Biology, P.O. Box 102, 230 53 Alnarp, Sweden *E-mail:* Sophie.Kromann@ slu.se To my family...

### Contents

List	of Publications	7				
1	Introduction	11				
2	The Cotton Leafworm, Spodoptera littoralis	12				
3	The Insect Olfactory System	13				
3.1	Peripheral Olfactory System					
	3.1.1 Olfactory Sensilla	14				
3.2	Central Olfactory System					
	3.2.1 Antennal Lobe Local Interneurons	17				
	3.2.2 Antennal Lobe Projection Neurons	17				
	3.2.3 Olfactory Processing in the Antennal Lobes	18				
	3.2.4 Protocerebral Olfactory Centres	19				
4	Modulation of the Olfactory System	21				
4.1	Neuromodulation	21				
4.2	Biogenic Amines					
	4.2.1 Serotonin	22				
	4.2.2 Dopamine	25				
	4.2.3 Octopamine	25				
	4.2.4 Tyramine	26				
4.3	Neuropeptides	27				
	4.3.1 Tachykinins	27				
	4.3.2 FMRFamide-Related Peptides	28				
	4.3.3 Allatotropin	28				
	4.3.4 Allatostatin	28				
	4.3.5 SIFamide	29				
	4.3.6 MIPamides	29				
5	Summary of Results	30				
5.1	Modulation of Olfaction in Female Spodoptera littoralis (Papers I-II)	30				
5.2	Modulation of Olfaction in Male Spodoptera littoralis (Paper III)					
5.3	Neuropeptides in the Antennal Lobes of Male <i>Spodoptera littoralis</i> ( <i>Paper IV</i> )					
6	General Conclusions	36				

#### References

#### Acknowledgements

51

### List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- A.M. Saveer, S.H. Kromann, G. Birgersson, M. Bengtsson, T. Lindblom, A. Balkenius, B.S. Hansson, P. Witzgall, P.G. Becher and R. Ignell (2012). Floral to green: mating switches moth olfactory coding and preference. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 279(1737), 2314-2322.
- II A-E. Félix, S.H. Kromann, J-B. Gramsbergen, B.S. Hansson, R. Ignell. Dopamine regulates the mating switch in olfactory coding and preference in a female moth (manuscript).
- III S.H. Kromann, A.M. Saveer, M. Binyameen, M. Bengtsson, G. Birgersson, B.S. Hansson, F. Schlyter, P. Witzgall, R. Ignell and P. G. Becher. Concurrent modulation of olfactory responses to sex and host plant cues in a male moth (manuscript).
- IV S.H. Kromann, B.S. Hansson and R. Ignell. Distribution of neuropeptides in the antennal lobes of male *Spodoptera littoralis* (manuscript).

7

Paper I is reproduced with the permission of Royal Society Publishing.

The contribution of Anne Sophie Haastrup Kromann to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Conducted and analysed the optical imaging experiments and contributed to the writing of the article. AM Saveer and ASH Kromann share joint first authorship.
- II Conducted and analysed the tissue preparation for HPLC, conducted and analysed the optical imaging experiments and co-wrote the manuscript. A-E Felix and ASH Kromann share joint first authorship.
- III Conducted and analysed the EAG and optical imaging experiments and wrote the manuscript. ASH Kromann and AM Saveer share joint first authorship.
- IV Conducted and analysed all the experiments and wrote the manuscript.

### 1 Introduction

Olfaction is an essential sensory modality for the survival and reproduction of many animals, especially insects. Food sources, mates and oviposition sites are located and evaluated through the use of the olfactory apparatus. Despite growing knowledge of insect olfactory detection and processing very little is known about the modulation and regulation of the olfactory system.

The objective of this thesis was to explore modulation of the peripheral and central olfactory systems in the Egyptian cotton leafworm, *Spodoptera littoralis*. This was achieved by comparing olfactory properties, such as sensitivity, between unmated and mated insects of both sexes. Through the use of behavioural, physiological, pharmacological and neuroanatomical techniques I have begun to elucidate the modulatory effects of internal factors, specifically change in mating status, on insect olfaction.

# 2 The Cotton Leafworm, Spodoptera littoralis

The Egyptian cotton leafworm, *Spodoptera littoralis* (Boisduval) (Lepidoptera, Noctuidae), is distributed in the Mediterranean countries of northern Africa and the Middle East. As a highly polyphagus insect, with larvae feeding on over 80 plant species from 40 different families, *S. littoralis* is a serious pest on agricultural and economical important crops, e.g. cotton (Brown & Dewhurst, 1975; Salama *et al.*, 1971).

Both male and female *S. littoralis* depend on olfactory cues to locate relevant resources in the environment. Such resources include nectar sources as well as possible mating and oviposition sites. Furthermore, males detect mating partners by tracking the female produced sex pheromone, consisting of at least 6 individual components, (Z,E)-9,11-tetradecadienyl acetate (Z9,E11-14:Ac), (Z,E)-9,12-tetradecadienyl acetate (Z9,E12-14:Ac), (E)-11-tetradecenyl acetate (E11-14:Ac), (Z)-9-tetradecenyl acetate (Z9-14:Ac) and tetradecyl acetate (14:Ac) (Malo *et al.*, 2000).

Using behavioural relevant odours, olfaction in *S. littoralis* has been studied at the peripheral (Binyameen *et al.*, 2012; Guerrieri *et al.*, 2012; Anderson *et al.*, 1995; Ochieng *et al.*, 1995) and the central nervous level (Guerrieri *et al.*, 2012; Carlsson & Hansson, 2003; Carlsson *et al.*, 2002; Anton & Hansson, 1995; Anton & Hansson, 1994) as well as at the behavioural output level (Andersson *et al.*, 2011; Anderson *et al.*, 2003; Fan & Hansson, 2001; Fan *et al.*, 1997).

### 3 The Insect Olfactory System

The olfactory system of insects consists of the antennae, labial- and maxillary palps, as well as the olfactory brain centres, constituting the peripheral and the central parts, respectively. On the flagellum of the antenna, as well as on the labial- and maxillary palps, there are cuticular processes covering the surface. These cuticular formations, sensilla, contain the olfactory receptor neurons (ORNs) responsible for the detection of information about the odourous environment (Todd & Baker, 1999). The axons of the ORNs project into the primary olfactory centres of the brain, the antennal lobes (ALs), where they converge onto spherical neuropil structures, glomeruli (Hansson & Anton, 2000; Todd & Baker, 1999). Local interneurons (LNs) transform the olfactory information before it is conveyed by projection neurons (PNs) to higher olfactory centres, including the mushroom bodies (MB) and the lateral protocerebrum (Hansson & Anton, 2000; Anton & Homberg, 1999). The MBs and the lateral protocerebrum each comprise a second order brain centre where olfactory input is further processed and integrated with other sensory modalities to produce a behavioural output.

#### 3.1 Peripheral Olfactory System

Insect antennae come in a variety of shapes and sizes but can generally be subdivided into 3 segments; the scapus, the pedicellus and the flagellum (Keil, 1999). The flagellum carries most of the olfactory sensilla yet other sensilla can be found on the labial- or maxillary palps (Keil, 1999). The number of antennal sensilla is dependent on the insects' lifestyle, where males of some insect species often have more sensilla compared to females reflecting the sexual dimorphic need to detect sex pheromone cues (Blaney & Simmonds, 1990). Irrespectively, adult insect antennae can carry tens of thousands of

sensilla ensuing high functional fidelity when "sieving" through the odorous environment (Keil, 1999).

#### 3.1.1 Olfactory Sensilla

#### Morphology

Insect olfactory sensilla can be distinguished based on their external morphology. Although their morphology may vary greatly, the sensilla may be classified as either single walled, including e.g. *sensilla trichodea* and *s. basiconica*, or double walled, e.g. *s. coeloconica*, where all have pores along the shaft of their cuticular wall (Keil, 1999).

The internal morphology of the sensilla is characterised by a lymph-filled lumen, a varying number of bipolar ORNs and auxiliary cells (Keil, 1999). The ORNs are characterised by a some that apically projects into the sensillum lymph where the outermost part of the dendrite forms a modified cilium (Keil, 1999). In certain sensilla, the cilium remains unbranched (e.g. s. trichodea) yet in other sensilla the cilium gives rise to several branches (e.g. s. basiconica) (Keil, 1999). The olfactory receptors (ORs), the proteins that selectively bind the odour molecules, are expressed in the membrane of the cilium, as well are other receptors and ion channels (Stengl, 2010; Keil, 1999). Surrounding the ORN somata are three auxiliary cells, including the thecogen, the tricogen and the tormogen cells. The auxiliary cells wrap tightly around the ORNs and ensure that the sensillum lumen is physically and chemically separated from the rest of the internal antennal environment (Keil, 1999; Keil & Steinbrecht, 1987; Keil, 1984). Furthermore, the auxiliary cells produce and excrete the sensillum lymph, which is characterised by a high concentration of K<sup>+</sup> as well as a high concentration of Odour Binding Proteins (OBPs), Pheromone Binding Proteins (PBPs) and Odour Degrading Enzymes (ODEs) that are involved in the olfactory perireceptor events (Keil, 1999; Stengl et al., 1999).

#### Function - Perireceptor events

The structure and internal organisation and environment of the olfactory sensilla make them high fidelity detectors of odours. Once through the pores in the sensillum cuticle, the odour molecules are hypothesised to bind to OBPs or PBPs making otherwise lipophilic molecules more hydrophilic (Stengl, 2010; Kaissling, 2009; Stengl *et al.*, 1999). This complex of odour molecule and OBP/PBP then traverses the sensillum lymph to the olfactory receptors located on the ORN cilium. At the receptor site, the odour molecule binds to the receptor and induces transduction (Vosshall & Hansson, 2011). It is currently



unclear whether the OBP/PBPs also binds to the receptor or dissociates from the odour molecule before receptor activation (Kaissling, 2009; Stengl *et al.*, 1999).

After receptor activation it is paramount to have a fast termination of the response and removal of the odour molecule to allow for subsequent activation by the next stimulus (Kaissling, 2009; Stengl *et al.*, 1999). However, it is not yet clear how this deactivation occurs; some experiments points to OBP/PBPs being involved in odour deactivation whereas other experiments suggest the involvement of esterases, the ODEs (Kaissling, 2009; Stengl *et al.*, 1999).

#### Function - Transduction

Insect ORs span the membrane with 7 transmembrane (7TM) domains but do not share sequence similarities with conventional 7TM receptors, other G-protein coupled receptors or vertebrate ORs (Silbering & Benton, 2010; Nakagawa & Vosshall, 2009). Furthermore, evidence suggests that insect ORs have an inverted topology so that the generic G-protein binding motif is located extracellularly (Benton *et al.*, 2006).

It is believed that each ORN only expresses one type of OR (Couto *et al.*, 2005; Nef *et al.*, 1992) alongside the ubiquitous chaperone co-receptor, "Orco" (Vosshall & Hansson, 2011; Nakagawa *et al.*, 2005; Larsson *et al.*, 2004; Pitts *et al.*, 2004; Krieger *et al.*, 2003). Together, Orco and the expressed OR form a heteromeric complex that encompasses both an ionotropic (direct ion channel) and a metabotropic (through second messenger systems) mechanisms for signal transduction. Upon odour stimulation of the Orco/OR complex, induction of ionotropic and metabotropic currents results in a graded receptor potential that, at the spike initiation zone of the ORN, either increases the spike activity (excitation) or decreases spike activity (inhibition) (Rospars *et al.*, 2010; Stengl, 2010; Nakagawa & Vosshall, 2009; Wicher *et al.*, 2008).

A common property of ORNs is that of selectivity and tuning. An ORN is said to be tuned to an odour molecule or a type of odour molecules when the ORN responds with the lowest threshold to that molecule (Todd & Baker, 1999). The tuning of an ORN is imposed by the particular OR type expressed on the cilium membrane and how strong an affinity the receptor has to different odour molecules. An odour identity is encoded by ORNs with overlapping tuning spectra responding to the odour with different intensities through a so-called "across fibre pattern" (Todd & Baker, 1999). The tuning of ORNs can vary greatly; pheromone-responding ORNs often respond only to one odour compound whereas certain plant-odour-responding ORNs often respond to several odours, e.g. alcohol or aldehydes (Todd & Baker, 1999).

Another aspect of ORN functionality is their sensitivity to odour concentrations. Insect ORNs have been suggested to function as flux detectors, reporting changes in abundance over time (Kaissling, 1998). But as with odour identity, odour concentration cannot be encoded by a single ORN; a decrease in firing activity could equally mean a lower concentration of an odour to which the receptor has a high affinity as well as a high concentration of an odour to which the receptor has a lower affinity (Todd & Baker, 1999). Rather, changes in concentrations are encoded by changes in spike frequencies between several ORNs where relative ratios of frequencies remain constant (Todd & Baker, 1999).

#### 3.2 Central Olfactory System

The insect antennal lobes (ALs) receive input from the antennae and the labialor maxillary labial palps (Anton & Homberg, 1999). The ALs are divided into spheriodal neuropilar structures, glomeruli, where the ORN axons make synaptic contacts with AL interneurons. The number of glomeruli is speciesspecific, where e.g. moths have been shown to have approximately 60 glomeruli (Hansson & Anton, 2000; Rospars & Hildebrand, 2000; Anton & Homberg, 1999). The glomeruli are arranged in one or more layers around a central fibrous core within the AL (Hansson & Anton, 2000; Anton & Homberg, 1999). In moths, as well as in some other insect taxa, one or several glomeruli are sexually dimorphic. The dimorphic enlarged glomeruli in male moths, located close to the antennal nerve entrance, constitute the macroglomerular complex (MGC) and have been shown to receive input from sex-pheromone sensitive ORNs (Hansson & Anton, 2000; Anton & Homberg, 1999). Below the MGC are the sexually isomorphic ordinary glomeruli (OG) that receive input from non-pheromonal, plant-related odour sensitive ORNs (Anton & Homberg, 1999; Hansson & Christensen, 1999). Hence, with specifically tuned ORNs innervating specific glomeruli, each glomerulus becomes a physical landmark of an odour molecule or class of molecules. Consequently, glomeruli collectively create a chemotopic map of the odour representation (Hansson & Christensen, 1999).

Surrounding the ALs are groups of cell bodies that in moths usually make up three clusters, including a lateral, a medio-dorsal and an antero-ventral cluster. However, in certain moth species, the lateral and the antero-ventral cell clusters are fused into one (Anton & Homberg, 1999). The cellular elements of the cell clusters comprise three different neuron types; PNs, LNs and centrifugal neurons (CNs) (Anton & Homberg, 1999). Of these three neuronal types, the antennal lobe interneurons (PNs and LNs) are responsible for

organising the olfactory information from the antennae by selectively integrating the synaptic input from the ORNs (Hansson & Christensen, 1999) and the PNs then convey the transformed neural representations of the odour to higher order brain centres (Anton & Homberg, 1999; de Belle & Kanzaki, 1999; Hansson & Christensen, 1999).

#### 3.2.1 Antennal Lobe Local Interneurons

Local interneurons are confined to the ALs and have their cell bodies in cell clusters at the periphery of the AL (Anton & Homberg, 1999). In moths, 300-400 LN somata are situated mainly in the large lateral cell cluster (Anton & Homberg, 1999; Homberg *et al.*, 1988). Three morphologically different subtypes of LNs have been demonstrated in moths: (1) multiglomerular LNs with homogeneous arborisations throughout the AL; (2) multiglomerular LNs with heterogeneous, asymmetrical arborisations; and (3) oligoglomerular LNs with arborisations in only a few glomeruli (Anton & Hansson, 1994; Hansson *et al.*, 1994; Christensen *et al.*, 1993; Matsumoto & Hildebrand, 1981).

#### 3.2.2 Antennal Lobe Projection Neurons

In moths, PNs have their somata located mainly in the medial cell cluster and have been shown to have uni- and multiglomerular dendritic arborisations within the AL (Anton & Homberg, 1999). The axons of PNs leave the ALs through one of several antenno-cerebral tracts, with the most prominent one being the inner antenna-cerebral tract (IACT) followed by the middle, the outer and the dorsal antenno-cerebral tracts (M-, O- and D-ACT, respectively) (Hansson & Anton, 2000; Anton & Homberg, 1999).

Several subtypes of PNs have been described for moths based on the projection pattern and pattern of arborisation within the ALs and the protocerebrum (Anton & Homberg, 1999). Projection neurons found in the IACT arborise in the calyces of the ipsilateral MB and/or the ipsilateral protocerebrum, whereas PNs found in the MACT project solely to areas in the ipsilateral protocerebrum. Outer-ACT PNs project to the calyces of the ipsilateral MB and to both the ipsi- and contralateral protocerebra (Anton & Homberg, 1999). Projection neurons found in the DACT have only been described for *M. sexta* and are characterised by having their somata in a protocerebral cell cluster near the AL but having dendritic arborisations in the contralateral AL (Kanzaki *et al.*, 1989; Homberg *et al.*, 1988).

#### 3.2.3 Olfactory Processing in the Antennal Lobes

The major function of the antennal lobe circuitry is to receive odour information from the ORNs and re-shape this into meaningful neural representations that can be "read" and further processed by higher order brain centres (Hansson & Christensen, 1999). The ALs are the first brain centre where molecular information about odours is integrated and where spatio-temperal characteristics of this information can be accentuated or attenuated (Hansson & Anton, 2000; Hansson & Christensen, 1999). With ORNs converging on the AL glomeruli, interneurons are presented with input that varies in quality, quantity, space and time. These parameters relate to natural, integration of odour signals then becomes a matter of combining this information into activity patterns that reflect odour identity and concentration as well as timing of detection (Hansson & Christensen, 1999).

Based on the ORN tuning specificity, two types of information can be relayed to the ALs: highly specific information regarding single compounds or more generalised information about classes of odour molecules. This have led to two hypothetical coding schemes: "labelled-line" and "across-fibre pattern" (Hansson & Christensen, 1999). In "labelled-line" coding, specifically tuned ORNs terminate in specific glomeruli. Hence, encoding and identification of an odour then becomes a matter of recognising which glomerulus is activated. Contrary, in "across-fibre pattern" coding, where ORNs with overlapping, broad tuning spectra result in activation of several glomeruli, the odour identity is encoded by the pattern of activation of ensembles of glomeruli (Hansson & Christensen, 1999). However, it should be noted that, based on empirical evidence, neither coding scheme alone can fully explain how information is represented in the ALs and a hybrid model, "across-label coding" for odour encoding has been suggested (Christensen & White, 2000).

Most LNs are GABAergic, i.e. produce and release  $\gamma$ -amino butyric acid to the synaptic cleft, thereby exerting an inhibitory action on the postsynaptic neurons (Christensen *et al.*, 1998b; Christensen *et al.*, 1998a; Christensen *et al.*, 1993; Waldrop *et al.*, 1987). A commonly accepted theory is that periods of inhibition, caused by the GABAergic LNs, in odour-evoked responses represent lateral interactions between AL neurons. This can lead to contrastenhancement where lateral inhibition accentuates odour signals processed in one information stream while attenuating odour signals processed in a neighbouring stream (Sachse & Galizia, 2002; Hansson & Christensen, 1999). Yet, in the vinegar fly *Drosophila melanogaster*, cholinergic, excitatory LNs have recently been found (Bhandawat *et al.*, 2007; Olsen *et al.*, 2007; Shang *et al.*, 2007). The presence of both GABAergic and cholinergic LNs indicate that

these neurons may function as a neural substrates for gain control, to enhance weak signals, and to dampen strong signals to ensure high fidelity of the olfactory system (Olsen & Wilson, 2008; Bhandawat *et al.*, 2007; Olsen *et al.*, 2007; Shang *et al.*, 2007; Wilson & Laurent, 2005; Wilson *et al.*, 2004). Due to the oligo- and multiglomerular arborisation patterns, LNs have been suggested to act in cross-talk between glomeruli (Hansson & Christensen, 1999), where lateral interactions of excitatory and inhibitory interactions serves to broaden the tuning spectrum of the entire system (Wilson & Laurent, 2005; Friedrich *et al.*, 2004; Friedrich & Laurent, 2004; Stopfer *et al.*, 2003; Friedrich & Laurent, 2001).

#### 3.2.4 Protocerebral Olfactory Centres

The protocerebrum consists mostly of seemingly unstructured neural networks except for the MBs and the central complex (CC) (de Belle & Kanzaki, 1999). Even so, these neuronal networks have on several occasions been shown to be composed of accurately arranged neurons both in relation to position of cells and the pattern of their arborisations (de Belle & Kanzaki, 1999; Kanzaki *et al.*, 1991). The protocerebral centres integrate input from different sensory centres, including but not limited to olfactory centres like the ALs, and coordinate motor and behavioural output (de Belle & Kanzaki, 1999).

#### Morphology and function

The prominent insect MBs consist of the cup-shaped calyces, the pedunculus and the  $\alpha/\alpha'$  and  $\beta/\beta'/\gamma$  lobes (de Belle & Kanzaki, 1999). The MBs receive chemosensory and mechanosensory input originating from e.g. the ALs, the suboesophageal ganglion (SOG) and thoracic ganglia. Furthermore, projections from the visual centres have been reported from flies and honeybees (de Belle & Kanzaki, 1999). The MB intrinsic cells, the Kenyon cells (KCs), have their somata directly on top of the calyces and project their dendrites into the calyces. The KC axons project through the calyces and into the pedunculus and terminate in either of the lobes. From the MB lobes, two distinct tracts of output neurons connect the MBs with the lateral protocerebrum (de Belle & Kanzaki, 1999).

The lateral protocerebrum (LPR) consists of a large number of unstructured neurons receiving extensive input from the MBs but also from other brain centres like the ALs, and the visual and mechanosensory centres (de Belle & Kanzaki, 1999). From the LPR, output neurons project mainly to motor centres and the thoracic ganglia but projections can be found throughout most of the brain as well (de Belle & Kanzaki, 1999).

Both the CC and the lateral accessory lobes (LAL) receive input from LPR, with the LAL receiving additional input from the CC. Both structures send axons into the thoracic ganglia and arborise within thoracic motor centres (de Belle & Kanzaki, 1999).

Based on connectivity, the protocerebral olfactory neurons are likely involved in the integration of olfactory information with information from other sensory modalities such as mechanosensation and vision. The integrated information from the protocerebral centres is then relayed to motor output centres in the thoracic ganglia producing a behavioural output (de Belle & Kanzaki, 1999).

Interestingly, protocerebral centres are not just relay stations for the integration of sensory inputs. The MBs have been demonstrated to be involved in olfactory memory formation and storage as well as olfactory learning (Blackiston *et al.*, 2008; Strausfeld *et al.*, 1998; Fan *et al.*, 1997; Mercer & Flanagan, 1988; Mercer & Menzel, 1982).

### 4 Modulation of the Olfactory System

For the insect to be able to accommodate constant changes in both the external and the internal environment, the nervous system has to be able to change accordingly. A fast and reversible way of achieving such changes is by modulating the olfactory system through the use of neuroactive chemicals, i.e. neuromodulators.

#### 4.1 Neuromodulation

Alongside conventional neurotransmitters, such as acetylcholine and GABA, insect olfactory neurons are known to produce a large number of neuroactive substances (Nässel & Homberg, 2006; Nässel, 2002; Homberg & Müller, 1999). These neuromodulators, including biogenic amines and neuropeptides, are known to be widely distributed within the olfactory system, especially the ALs and the MBs (Heuer *et al.*, 2012; Nässel & Winther, 2010; Nässel & Homberg, 2006; Homberg & Müller, 1999). However, direct physiological function within the olfactory system has so far only been attributed to a small subset of these neuromodulators (Root *et al.*, 2011; Ignell *et al.*, 2009; Dacks *et al.*, 2008).

Biogenic amines and neuropeptides are thought to be co-released with the conventional neurotransmitters and involved in synaptic transmission of information. Both biogenic amines and neuropeptides are believed to act through G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs / metabotropic receptors) with a second messenger system that involves up- or down-regulation of cytosolic cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) (Schlenstedt *et al.*, 2006; Johnson *et al.*, 2003; Hewes & Taghert, 2001; Osborne, 1996; Bodnaryk, 1982).

#### 4.2 Biogenic Amines

Over the last couple of decades, increasing amounts of information about biogenic amines have emerged. Distribution, pharmacological and biochemical analyses have revealed the presence and functionality of several amines (Osborne, 1996; Roeder, 1994), many of which have also been suggested to function as neuromodulators in the ALs (Homberg & Müller, 1999). Through immunolabelling studies, the biogenic amines have been suggested to be expressed in both LNs and/or CNs (Homberg & Müller, 1999).

Strictly speaking, biogenic amines are any compound produced by life processes and contain one (or more) amine moiety, e.g. acetylcholine, melatonin, histamine, serotonin, dopamine, octopamine and tyramine. However, in the following part only serotonin, dopamine, octopamine and tyramine will be discussed.

#### 4.2.1 Serotonin

5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin) is widely spread throughout the insect nervous system (Nässel, 1988), and has been implicated in many physiological processes, e.g. development (Taylor *et al.*, 1992), peripheral and central olfactory modulation (Dacks *et al.*, 2008; Kloppenburg & Mercer, 2008; Siju *et al.*, 2008; Hill *et al.*, 2003; Hill *et al.*, 2002; Kloppenburg *et al.*, 1999; Macmillan & Mercer, 1987; Linn & Roelofs, 1986), olfactory learning (Wright *et al.*, 2010; Mercer & Flanagan, 1988; Mercer & Menzel, 1982) as well as hearing, vision and mechanosensation (Homberg, 2002; Osborne, 1996) (for further information see Table 1).

In the olfactory system, processes from serotonin-producing neurons have been found in the ALs across insect taxa although the arborisation pattern varies between individual species (Homberg & Müller, 1999). In certain species of cockroaches, beetles and locusts, these serotonergic neurons are ascending from the ALs into the protocerebrum (Homberg, 2002; Homberg & Müller, 1999; Breidbach, 1990). However, in moths and some cockroaches, these neurons have changed direction to become descending neurons from protocerebral centres and likely act as feedback circuits from higher order brain centres (Sun *et al.*, 1993; Salecker & Distler, 1990).

In the moths, serotonin has been shown to alter  $K^+$  conductances in AL neurons leading to spike broadening and increased input resistance of individual neurons (Kloppenburg & Mercer, 2008; Mercer *et al.*, 1996; Mercer *et al.*, 1995), as well as increased odour and concentration discrimination in ORNs (Dacks *et al.*, 2008; Grosmaitre *et al.*, 2001; Kloppenburg *et al.*, 1999).

Biogenic Amine	Species	Receptor type	Receptor effectuation	Tissue	Sensory modality	Physiological process	Reference
Dopamine	Schistocerca gregaria Apis mellifera Locusta migratoria Drosophila melanogaster Rhodnius prolixus Blaberus giganteus Culex pipiens Leucophaea madera	Metabotropic	Activation of AC	CNS PNS Salivary glands Flight muscle Visceral muscle	Vision Taste Olfaction Mechanosensation	Potentiation of flight motor pattern Motor output Salivary secretion Gut contraction Locomotion AKH release	Osborne 1996 Homberg 2002
Octopamine	Glossina morsitans L. migratoria Manduca sexta Periplaneta americana S. gregaria Spodoptera littoralis Heliothis virescens Bombyx mori A. mellifera D. melanogaster Phormia regina Acheta domesticus	Metabotropic	Activation of AC Increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_{cytosol}$ Inactivation of AC in antennae and brain of <i>H.</i> <i>virescens</i> and <i>B. mori</i>	CNS Flight muscle Endocrine organs Air sacs Visceral muscle Ovipositor Fat body Hemocytes Compound eyes Ocelli Chemosensory organs Chordotonal organs	Proprioception Hearing Taste Vision Olfaction <i>Pheromone response</i> Mechanosensation	Learning and memory Rhythmic behaviours Desensitisation Motivation Locomotion Glycogenolysis Sting response Feeding behaviour	Roeder 1999 Osborne 1996 Farooqui 2007

Table 1. Biogenic amines in insects

Biogenic Amine	Species	Receptor type	Receptor effectuation	Tissue	Sensory modality	Physiological process	Reference
Serotonin	S. gregaria L. migratoria M. sexta Bombyx mori A. domesticus D. melanogaster P. americana R. prolixus D. melanogaster Teleogryllus commodus	Ionotropic Metabotropic	Potassium channels Sodium channels Calcium channels Activation of AC Inactivation of AC Activation of IP <sub>3</sub>	CNS PNS Chordotonal organs Flight muscle Other muscles Visceral muscle Salivary glands	Hearing Olfaction <i>Pheromone response</i> Vision Mechanosensation	Suppression of flight motor pattern Motor output Salivary secretion Gut contraction	Osborne 1996 Tierney 2001 Homberg 2002
Tyramine	P. americana A. mellifera B. mori L. migratoria D. melanogaster P. regina Trichoplusia ni	Metabotropic	Inactivation of AC Increase in [Ca <sup>2+</sup> ] <sub>cytosol</sub>	Fat body Malpighian tubules Skeletal muscle Visceral muscle Pheromone gland Flight muscle CNS PNS	Taste Vision Olfaction	Glycogenolysis Diuresis Locomotion ♀ reproductive organ contraction Pheromone production Appetite Flight	Osborne 1996 Lange 2009

Table 1 - continued.

AC, adenylate cyclase; AKH, adipokinetic hormone;  $[Ca^{2^+}]_{cytosol}$ , cytosolic concentration of calcium; CNS, central nervous system; IP<sub>3</sub>, inositol triphosphate; PNS, peripheral nervous system

#### 4.2.2 Dopamine

Dopamine has been demonstrated in the PNS and CNS of several insect species and has been found to affect various sensory modalities, including vision, taste, mechanosensation and olfactory memory (Berry *et al.*, 2012; Homberg & Müller, 1999; Osborne, 1996; Mercer & Menzel, 1982). Furthermore, dopamine is known to regulate the metabolisms of the classic insect hormones, juvenile hormone and ecdysteroids (Rauschenbach *et al.*, 2011; Gruntenko & Rauschenbach, 2008; Gruntenko *et al.*, 2005a; Gruntenko *et al.*, 2005b) (for further information see Table 1).

The presence of dopaminergic neurons in the olfactory system of insects varies greatly among species (Homberg & Müller, 1999). However, in species where these neurons are found, evidence suggests that they function as wide-field CNs with dendritic arborisations in both the protocerebrum and the SOG and axonal terminations in the AL (Homberg & Müller, 1999; Schafer & Rehder, 1989).

Several dopamine-GPCRs have been found in the insect nervous system (Kahsai *et al.*, 2012; Blenau & Baumann, 2001; Vallone *et al.*, 2000; Kokay & Mercer, 1996; Roeder, 1994) and they appear to be connected to specific dopamine-sensitive adenylate cyclase (Bodnaryk, 1982; Bodnaryk, 1979a) regulating cAMP concentration and ion channel activity (Vallone *et al.*, 2000; Missale *et al.*, 1998).

#### 4.2.3 Octopamine

Octopamine is thought to act as a hormone, a modulator and a transmitter in many invertebrate species (Farooqui, 2007; Roeder, 1999). Octopamine has been found in both neuronal and non-neuronal tissue and is likely to modulate almost every physiological process in invertebrates (Farooqui, 2007; Roeder, 1999), including olfactory detection (Pophof, 2002; Grosmaitre *et al.*, 2001; Pophof, 2000; Linn *et al.*, 1992; Linn & Roelofs, 1992; Roelofs & Linn, 1987; Linn & Roelofs, 1986) and learning and memory (Farooqui *et al.*, 2003; Menzel, 2001; Erber *et al.*, 1993; Menzel *et al.*, 1988). Octopamine is thought to act as a "stress-hormone" in the peripheral nervous system of insects, inducing increased muscle contraction, increased glycogenolysis and mobilization of lipids (Chapman, 1998; Orchard & Lange, 1984) (For further information see Table 1).

In the CNS, a small number of octopaminergic neurons, including ascending thoracic dorsal unpaired median (DUM) and ventral unpaired

median (VUM) neurons, supply most neuropils of the insect brain (Bräunig, 1991). These elaborate neurons send projections into the ALs, the MBs and in some insects also the lateral protocerebrum (Dacks *et al.*, 2005; Homberg & Müller, 1999; Kreissl *et al.*, 1994).

Octopaminergic GPCRs (Roeder, 1999) are found in the antennae as well as throughout the insect brain, especially in the MBs (Brigaud *et al.*, 2009; Han *et al.*, 1998; Roeder & Nathanson, 1993) and cause an increase of the intracellular second messenger cAMP and an activation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase A (Hildebrandt & Muller, 1995b; Hildebrandt & Muller, 1995a; Roelofs & Linn, 1987; Linn & Roelofs, 1986; Bodnaryk, 1982; Bodnaryk, 1979a; Bodnaryk, 1979b).

#### 4.2.4 Tyramine

Tyramine is a decarboxylation product of tyrosine and a precursor of octopamine (Roeder, 2005). Not much is known about the physiological function of tyramine in insects (Lange, 2009; Roeder, 2005). However, tyramine has been implicated in the muscle contraction of the locust oviduct (Lange, 2009; Donini & Lange, 2004). A mutant *Drosophila* line, *honoka*, with reduced tyramine receptor expression, shows few phenotypical differences compared with wild type flies. They are slightly hyperactive, impaired in certain olfactory tasks and show reduced tyramine-induced muscle contractions (Roeder, 2005; Nagaya *et al.*, 2002; Kutsukake *et al.*, 2000) (For further information see Table 1).

Tyraminergic labelling has been found in the CNS, PNS and visceral muscle tissue, all stemming from a small set of DUM and VUM neurons located in the SOG and thoracic and abdominal ganglia (Lange, 2009; Downer *et al.*, 1993).

Tyramine receptor pharmacology suffers greatly from the lack of pharmacology tools and there are therefore only a few studies available (Roeder, 2005). The only pharmacological relevant antagonist, yohimbine, is a high-affinity antagonist of tyramine receptors and induces pharmacological effects similar to what is observed in flies with reduced expression of tyramine receptors (Roeder, 2005; Kutsukake *et al.*, 2000). Evidence suggests that, whereas octopamine induces an increase in cAMP and/or intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration, tyramine induces a decrease in cAMP (Roeder, 2005; Roeder *et al.*, 2003).

#### 4.3 Neuropeptides

Neuropeptides comprise a diverse group of signalling molecules and are thought to be involved in the regulation of several physiological processes. Other functions include inhibition of hormone production and myoinhibition (allatostatins), stimulation of hormone production (allatotropins) and myostimulatory (tachykinins) (Nässel & Winther, 2010) as well as functions as regulatory hormones in the heart, gut and reproductive tissue of insects (Spit *et al.*, 2012; Nässel & Winther, 2010; Clark *et al.*, 2008; Ejaz & Lange, 2008; Nässel & Homberg, 2006; Hill & Orchard, 2004; Clark & Lange, 2002; Lange, 2001; Fuse *et al.*, 1999; Kwok *et al.*, 1999). In addition, based on distribution studies, many neuropeptides have been implicated to be involved in olfaction (Nassel & Winther, 2010).

Neuropeptides with similar C-terminal ends from orthologous genes across species comprise a peptide family (Nässel & Winther, 2010; Nässel & Winther, 2002; Vanden Broeck, 2001), and the most prominent neuropeptide families characterised in insects are A-type allatostatins, allatotropins, FMRFamide-related peptides and tachykinin-related peptides (Nässel & Homberg, 2006; Schachtner *et al.*, 2005).

In the following section, a subset of the neuropeptide families, as relating to olfaction and olfactory processing, will be described.

#### 4.3.1 Tachykinins

Tachykinin has been shown to be expressed in AL LNs and a small subset of CNs in several insect species (Berg *et al.*, 2007; Neupert *et al.*, 2007; Nässel & Homberg, 2006; Schachtner *et al.*, 2005; Homberg & Müller, 1999). The high degree of similarity in tachykinin expression across taxa, especially amongst LNs, indicates an important function of tachykinin within the olfactory system (Nässel & Winther, 2010; Schachtner *et al.*, 2005).

Tachykinin is one of only two neuropeptides to have been functionally characterised within the olfactory system. Tachykinin signalling has been studied in *Drosophila* and tachykinin-releasing LNs have been shown to presynaptically inhibit ORNs and suppress synaptic transmission from ORNs. Furthermore, tachykinin-releasing LNs also modulate postsynaptic LN activity, possibly providing a release of inhibition in local circuits (Winther & Ignell, 2010). The combined action of tachykinin on ORNs and LNs has been shown to alter the olfactory-guided behavioural choices towards certain food-related odours (Winther & Ignell, 2010; Ignell *et al.*, 2009; Winther *et al.*, 2006).



#### 4.3.2 FMRFamide-Related Peptides

The FMRFamide-related peptide (FaRP) superfamily includes the extended FMRFamides, the myosuppressins, short neuropeptide F (sNPF) and the sulfakinins (Predel *et al.*, 2010; Marder *et al.*, 1987). Immunocytochemical analyses, using antibodies against this family, have revealed extensive labelling of LNs, PNs and/or CNs across several species (Berg *et al.*, 2007; Neupert *et al.*, 2007; Nässel & Homberg, 2006; Iwano & Kanzaki, 2005; Schachtner *et al.*, 2005; Homberg *et al.*, 1990). This evolutionary conserved feature of FaRPs indicates a significant role of this family of neuropeptides in olfactory processing and modulation (Schachtner *et al.*, 2005). However, no true olfactory function has yet been attributed any of these peptides, except for sNPF. Recently, sNPF signalling has been shown to presynaptically modulate ORNs, facilitating enhanced ORN activity (Root *et al.*, 2011). Short neuropeptide F and insulin were demonstrated, through the expression of the sNPF receptor, to modulate odour-driven food search in starvation/satiety dependent behaviours (Root *et al.*, 2011).

#### 4.3.3 Allatotropin

Allatotropin has only been studied in a few insect species, including cockroaches (Neupert *et al.*, 2012; Homberg & Müller, 1999), locusts (Homberg *et al.*, 2004; Ignell, 2001) and moths (Berg *et al.*, 2007; Schachtner *et al.*, 2005; Schachtner *et al.*, 2004). However, where allatotropin expression within the olfactory system has been reported, the distribution pattern looks strikingly similar, with only minor differences in the actual number of labelled cells (Schachtner *et al.*, 2005). So far, no olfactory function has been established.

#### 4.3.4 Allatostatin

Gene products of insect A-type allatostatins vary greatly in numbers between species; from 4 isoforms in *D. melanogaster* to 14 isoforms in cockroaches (Schachtner *et al.*, 2005). Yet, immunolabelling studies have shown pronounced similarities between several species where AL LNs, PN and/or CNs have been labelled (Nässel & Homberg, 2006; Schachtner *et al.*, 2005). Despite the large number of immunocytochemical studies, no olfactory function has been reported.

#### 4.3.5 SIFamide

Although only a few insect species have been examined in relation to SIFamide distribution, a striking pattern emerges; a very small number of SIFamide expressing neurons are present in the brain of these insects. These neurons have their somata in the pars intercerebralis and project branches to almost all centres of the brain (Neupert *et al.*, 2012; Carlsson *et al.*, 2010; Predel *et al.*, 2010; Terhzaz *et al.*, 2007; Verleyen *et al.*, 2004). The conserved SIFamide distribution in diverse species such as dipterans and lepidopterans suggests that SIFamide has a significant function, not just in the olfactory system but on a global CNS level (Schachtner *et al.*, 2005).

SIFamide has been implicated in the control of sexual behaviours of *D. melanogaster*, where ablation of SIFamidergic neurons in the brain results in males indiscriminately courting both conspecific females and males (Terhzaz *et al.*, 2007). This change in behaviour indicates that SIFamide modulation of olfaction is involved in the male-male pheromone recognition system that otherwise inhibits male-male courtship (Carlsson *et al.*, 2010; Terhzaz *et al.*, 2007).

#### 4.3.6 MIPamides

Myoinhibitor peptides (MIPamides) have until recently received very little attention and there are, therefore, not much known about this family. MIPamide distribution has, so far, only been reported for *D. melanogaster* (Carlsson *et al.*, 2010) and *P. americana* (Neupert *et al.*, 2012) where it seems to be confined to 10-15 LNs in *D. melanogaster* and 30-50 LNs in *P. americana* plus additional endocrine cells (Neupert *et al.*, 2012; Carlsson *et al.*, 2010).

### 5 Summary of Results

# 5.1 Modulation of Olfaction in Female Spodoptera littoralis (Papers I-II)

Mating induces profound changes in the olfactory system of female *S. littoralis.* Naïve, unmated females are highly attracted to nectar sources (flowers of lilac, *Syringa vulgaris*) but only partially attracted to oviposition sites (leaves of cotton, *Gossypium hirsutum*). However, after mating, behavioural responses are now switched to a strong attraction to cotton whereas the attraction to lilac is abolished (Fig. 1A-B). This behavioural switch is mirrored at the neuronal level, where the olfactory input to the ALs is significantly modulated by mating. Electroantennographic and optical imaging analyses of odour detection revealed that responses to lilac volatiles were greatly reduced after mating, whereas responses to cotton volatiles were significantly enhanced.

Through a series of high performance liquid chromatography analyses, we found that dopamine levels in the ALs changed as a consequence of mating. Shortly after mating a transient, but significant increase in dopamine levels in the olfactory system modulates the sensitivity of the system to both lilac and cotton volatiles. These changes could be mimicked by systemic injection of the biosynthetic dopamine precursor, L-DOPA<sup>1</sup>, into unmated females, which made them respond as if they were in fact mated. In contrast, removing dopamine from the system by injecting a depletion agent into mated females, made them respond as if they were unmated (Fig. 1C).

<sup>1.</sup> Dopamine does not cross the blood-brain barrier, in contrast to L-DOPA. Once inside the brain, L-DOPA is converted to dopamine through the dopamine biosynthetic pathway (Lehman *et al.*, 2000; Livingstone & Tempel, 1983).





*Figure 1:* Mating-induced modulation of behavioural attraction of (a) unmated and (b) mated female *Spodoptera littoralis* to cotton and lilac in the wind tunnel. (c) Antennal lobe glomerular responses to cotton of female *S. littoralis* either unmated, sham injected, 24 h post-mated or unmated injected with L-DOPA. (d) Antennal lobe glomerular responses to cotton of female *S. littoralis* either unmated or unmated injected with L-DOPA. (d) Antennal lobe glomerular responses to cotton of female *S. littoralis* either unmated, sham injected, 3 h post-mated or unmated injected with  $\alpha$ MT. Results in (c) and (d) were obtained with amounts of volatiles as released from a cotton plant and a cluster of lilac flowers during 10 min.

The mechanism by which dopamine acts on the olfactory system is not known but dopamine may alter ORN excitability by regulating the production of second messengers (Bodnaryk, 1982; Bodnaryk, 1979a). In mammals, dopamine has been shown to depress olfactory input to the olfactory bulb in this way (Coronas *et al.*, 1999; Hsia *et al.*, 1999; Mania-Farnell *et al.*, 1993). Alternatively or in addition, dopamine may act through protein kinases and regulate gene expression for e.g. olfactory receptors (Sands & Palmer, 2008; Eisenhardt *et al.*, 2006; Vallone *et al.*, 2000; Missale *et al.*, 1998).

Our results indicate that dopamine primarily acts on the peripheral olfactory system of the *S. littoralis* and preliminary *in situ* hybridisation analysis have revealed the expression of dopamine receptors (SlitDAR-1 and SlitDAR-2) in

olfactory receptor neurons of female *S. littoralis* (unpublished data). Furthermore, a pair of dopaminergic centrifugal neurons innervate the ALs of *S. littoralis* (unpublished data) as seen in other moths (Klemm, 1976). It is plausible that these receptors and centrifugal neurons provide a substrate for peripheral and central dopaminergic olfactory modulation. Dopamine levels in the brain have previously been shown to be correlated with reproductive state in both insects and vertebrates (Serguera *et al.*, 2008; Sasaki *et al.*, 2007; Boulay *et al.*, 2001; Sasaki & Nagao, 2001; Harris & Woodring, 1995). Yet, direct modulation of the olfactory system has only been shown in mice, in which increased dopamine levels in the olfactory bulb reduce sensitivity to male-produced social cues that would otherwise inhibit pregnancy (Serguera *et al.*, 2008).

Selective dopaminergic modulation of AL neuronal circuits could be responsible for the up- and down-regulation of neuronal responses to cotton and lilac volatiles, respectively. Yet, it is still unclear how insects, like S. littoralis, can distinguish between different plants. Many of the volatiles found in lilac and cotton headspaces are ubiquitous compounds found in many plants. However, the attraction of S. littoralis might be because of a subset of essential compounds, in addition to otherwise redundant, interchangeable compounds (Cha et al., 2011; Tasin et al., 2007). In cotton and lilac, the ratio between the two enantiomers of linalool, (R)-(-)- and (S)-(+)-linalool, is different. Yet, it has been observed in М. sexta that females can differentiate between these two



*Figure 2:* Mating-induced modulation of behavioural attraction of male *Spodoptera littoralis* towards (a) cotton foliage, (b) calling female *S. littoralis* and (c) lilac flowers in the wind tunnel (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 50).

enantiomers and that one signifies feeding source whereas the other is indicative of oviposition site (Reisenman *et al.*, 2010). It is, therefore, highly plausible that female *S. littoralis* could be able to distinguish between the two enantiomers and, thus, utilize this information as a guide towards cotton versus lilac.

# 5.2 Modulation of Olfaction in Male *Spodoptera littoralis* (*Paper III*)

Mating also induces profound changes in the olfactory system of male S. littoralis. Naïve, unmated males are attracted to cotton (mating site) and lilac (food source) but even more so to pheromone-releasing females. However, directly after mating, behavioural responses to calling females and cotton are abolished. This inhibition of behavioural response is temporary and pre-mating response levels are restored by the following night (Fig 2). These matinginduced changes were analysed with electroantennographic, single sensillum and optical imaging analyses, and we found that the behavioural inhibition towards pheromone and cotton volatiles were correlated to a remarkable lowered sensitivity of the antennae and ORN input to the ALs. Twenty-four hours later, the responses at both neuronal levels had also reverted to that of unmated males. This transient inhibition of olfaction and olfactory-guided behaviour is most likely an adaptive value to avoid remating a now unreceptive female (Fischer & King, 2008). Furthermore, it could also be a necessary period for refilling the sex accessory glands and for production of new spermatophores as suggested for the moth Agrotis ipsilon (Barrozo et al., 2011; Barrozo et al., 2010a; Barrozo et al., 2010b; Gadenne et al., 2001; Lachmann, 2000; Duportets et al., 1998).

Interestingly, mating does not alter the behavioural or the neuronal responses to lilac in male moths (Fig. 2) as it does in female *S. littoralis*. Because of this, we hypothesis that olfaction in males is characterised by two separate information streams; one for social cues, i.e. mate and mating sites, and one for food source-related odours. These two information streams are modulated differentially with the responses to social cues being regulated by internal factors such as mating status.

#### 5.3 Neuropeptides in the Antennal Lobes of Male Spodoptera littoralis (Paper IV)

To elucidate the underlying mechanism of mating-induced olfactory modulation in males, we also conducted high performance liquid chromatography on excised male ALs. However, contrary to what we found in females, none of the biogenic amines changed in relation to mating in males, indicating separate modes of modulation between the two sexes. Another set of proposed neuromodulators are the neuropeptides. In view of the fact that only a small subset of neuropeptides has a characterised function in the olfactory system, we conducted a series of immunocytochemical experiments to identify prime candidates for future studies.



*Figure 3:* Distribution patterns of neuropeptides within the antennal lobes of male *Spodoptera littoralis.* (a) Schematic drawing of the brain of *S. littoralis* with LemTK immunoreactive cell bodies (green), (b) allatostatin distribution within the antennal lobe and an extrinsic fibre connecting the antennal lobe with higher order brain centres (arrow), (c) FMRFamide distribution within the antennal lobe and (d) FMRFamide immunoreactive extrinsic neurons in the inner antennocerebral tract (arrow). Scale bars = 50  $\mu$ m.

We found that five of the six neuropeptides screened for were expressed primarily in intrinsic AL LNs; tachykinin, FMRFamide-related peptides, allatotropin, allatostatin and MIPamide (Fig 3). However, a subset of the neuropeptides were also expressed in extrinsic, projection or centrifugal, neurons. These findings suggest that neuropeptide signalling occurs mainly within local circuits of the ALs but that crosstalk with other brain centres is also subject to peptidergic modulation.

Within the ALs, we found conspicuous distribution patterns of the tested neuropeptides. Tachykinin, SIFamide and MIPamide were expressed homogeneously throughout all glomeruli whereas allatotropin and allatostatin were only expressed in the basal part of the glomeruli. FMRFamide had a dense expression pattern amongst the ordinary glomeruli but was almost devoid in the major glomerulus of the macroglomerular complex, the cumulus. This differential expression of neuropeptides within and amongst the glomeruli indicates differential function in processing of odours, e.g. pheromones and plant-related odours. Furthermore, differential expression offers the possibility

of selective modulation of afferent and efferent neurons, i.e. ORNs and PNs, respectively.

Interestingly, SIFamide, which is only expressed in extrinsic neurons, was recently found to be involved in the regulation of courtship behaviour in the *D. melanogaster*. If SIFamide expressing neurons are genetically removed, male *D. melanogaster* started to court both females and males equally (Terhzaz *et al.*, 2007). It has, therefore, been suggested that SIFamide might be involved in the detection and processing of pheromones that normally prevent males from courting other males (Carlsson *et al.*, 2010).

Allatotropin and allatostatin are known to regulate the production and release of juvenile hormone, which stimulates filling of sex accessory gland and production of spermatophers. Filling of the sex accessory glands, in turn, stimulates release of allatotropin, creating a feedback loop (Stay & Tobe, 2007; McNeil & Tobe, 2001). It is, therefore, plausible that, after mating when males are depleted of spermatophores, an induction of the allatostatin-allatotropin-juvenile hormone system is also accountable for the observed decrease in olfactory responses of male *S. littoralis*.

The presence and distinctive distribution patterns of the neuropeptides and the possibility for selective and physiological state-dependent modulation of the olfactory system could ensure neuronal and behavioural plasticity in response to changing internal and external environments.

### 6 General Conclusions

In the four papers presented in this thesis, I have described how mating alters the olfactory system of female and male *Spodoptera littoralis*. Although we still only know relatively little about insect olfaction, I believe that our findings offer an important contribution to how internal states can modulate the olfactory system.

Mating affects the olfactory system of female *S. littoralis* (Papers I and II). This modulation is caused by an increase in dopamine levels in the olfactory system (Paper II) and results in a shift in olfactory preference and a concurrent change in olfactory sensitivity to food source and oviposition site related odours (Papers I and II). Similarly, in males, mating induces a change in the olfactory system, with a transient inhibition of behavioural and olfactory responses to pheromones and mating site related odours (Paper III).

Neuropeptide distribution in the antennal lobes of males was investigated to elucidate prime candidates for future studies on mating-induced modulation of olfaction. Distinct patterns were found for 6 neuropeptides and revealed a rich neural substrate for the modulation of olfactory integration (Paper IV).

Based on these findings, future studies of the olfactory system in *S. littoralis* will be aimed at elucidating additional modulatory mechanisms, how these affect mating-induced changes as well as other changes in the olfactory system and how this relates to the coding of odours. With the advancement in molecular techniques available for the study of insect chemical ecology, a multitude of facets can be explored. Characterisation of olfactory receptors as well as receptors involved in synaptic transmission will offer great advances in our understanding of how odours are processed. This can then be related to the behavioural output of physiological state and context-dependent choices.

### References

- Anderson, P., Hansson, B.S. & Lofqvist, J. (1995). Plant-odour-specific receptor neurons on the antennae of female and male Spodoptera littoralis. *Physiological Entomology* 20(3), 189-198.
- Anderson, P., Sadek, M.M. & Hansson, B.S. (2003). Pre-exposure modulates attraction to sex pheromone in a moth. *Chemical Senses* 28(4), 285-291.
- Andersson, M.N., Binyameen, M., Sadek, M.M. & Schlyter, F. (2011). Attraction Modulated by Spacing of Pheromone Components and Anti-attractants in a Bark Beetle and a Moth. *Journal* of Chemical Ecology 37(8), 899-911.
- Anton, S. & Hansson, B.S. (1994). Central Processing of Sex-Pheromone, Host Odor, and Oviposition Deterrent Information by Interneurons in the Antennal Lobe of Female Spodoptera-Littoralis (Lepidoptera, Noctuidae). *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 350(2), 199-214.
- Anton, S. & Hansson, B.S. (1995). Odor Information-Processing in Antennal Robe Interneurons of Male and Female Spodoptera-Littoralis (Lepidoptera, Noctuidae). *Chemical Senses* 20(1), 132-133.
- Anton, S. & Homberg, U. (1999). Antennal lobe structure. In: Hansson, B.S. (Ed.) Insect Olfaction. pp. 98-124. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer.
- Barrozo, R.B., Gadenne, C. & Anton, S. (2010a). Switching attraction to inhibition: matinginduced reversed role of sex pheromone in an insect. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 213(17), 2933-2939.
- Barrozo, R.B., Jarriault, D., Deisig, N., Gemeno, C., Monsempes, C., Lucas, P., Gadenne, C. & Anton, S. (2011). Mating-induced differential coding of plant odour and sex pheromone in a male moth. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 33(10), 1841-1850.
- Barrozo, R.B., Jarriault, D., Simeone, X., Gaertner, C., Gadenne, C. & Anton, S. (2010b). Mating-induced transient inhibition of responses to sex pheromone in a male moth is not mediated by octopamine or serotonin. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 213(7), 1100-1106.
- Benton, R., Sachse, S., Michnick, S.W. & Vosshall, L.B. (2006). Atypical membrane topology and heteromeric function of Drosophila odorant receptors in vivo. *Plos Biology* 4(2), 240-257.
- Berg, B.G., Schachtner, J., Utz, S. & Homberg, U. (2007). Distribution of neuropeptides in the primary olfactory center of the heliothine moth Heliothis virescens. *Cell and Tissue Research* 327(2), 385-98.

- Berry, J.A., Cervantes-Sandoval, I., Nicholas, E.P. & Davis, R.L. (2012). Dopamine Is Required for Learning and Forgetting in Drosophila. *Neuron* 74(3), 530-542.
- Bhandawat, V., Olsen, S.R., Gouwens, N.W., Schlief, M.L. & Wilson, R.I. (2007). Sensory processing in the Drosophila antennal lobe increases reliability and separability of ensemble odor representations. *Nature Neuroscience* 10(11), 1474-82.
- Binyameen, M., Anderson, P., Ignell, R., Seada, M.A., Hansson, B.S. & Schlyter, F. (2012). Spatial Organization of Antennal Olfactory Sensory Neurons in the Female Spodoptera littoralis Moth: Differences in Sensitivity and Temporal Characteristics. *Chemical Senses*.
- Blackiston, D.J., Silva Casey, E. & Weiss, M.R. (2008). Retention of memory through metamorphosis: can a moth remember what it learned as a caterpillar? *Plos One* 3(3), e1736.
- Blaney, W.M. & Simmonds, M.S.J. (1990). The chemoreceptors. In: Chapman, R.F., et al. (Eds.) Biology of grasshoppers. pp. 1-37. New York, Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.
- Blenau, W. & Baumann, A. (2001). Molecular and pharmacological properties of insect biogenic amine receptors: Lessons from Drosophila melanogaster and Apis mellifera. *Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology* 48(1), 13-38.
- Bodnaryk, R.P. (1979a). Basal, dopamine- and octopamine-stimulated adenylate cyclase activity in the brain of the moth, M amestra configurat A, during its metamorphosis. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 33(1), 275-82.
- Bodnaryk, R.P. (1979b). Characterization of an octopamine-sensitive adenylate cyclase from insect brain (Mamestra configurata Wlk.). *Canadian Journal of Biochemistry* 57(3), 226-32.
- Bodnaryk, R.P. (1982). Biogenic amine-sensitive adenylate cyclases in insects. *Insect Biochemistry* 12(1), 1-6.
- Boulay, R., Hooper-Bui, L.M. & Woodring, J. (2001). Oviposition and oogenesis in virgin fire ant females Solenopsis invicta are associated with a high level of dopamine in the brain. *Physiological Entomology* 26(4), 294-299.
- Breidbach, O. (1990). Serotonin-Immunoreactive Brain Interneurons Persist during Metamorphosis of an Insect - a Developmental-Study of the Brain of Tenebrio-Molitor L (Coleoptera). *Cell and Tissue Research* 259(2), 345-360.
- Brigaud, I., GrosmaItre, X., Francois, M.C. & Jacquin-Joly, E. (2009). Cloning and expression pattern of a putative octopamine/tyramine receptor in antennae of the noctuid moth Mamestra brassicae. *Cell and Tissue Research* 335(2), 455-463.
- Brown, E.S. & Dewhurst, C.F. (1975). Genus Spodoptera (Lepidoptera, Noctuidae) in Africa and near East. *Bulletin of Entomological Research* 65(2), 221-&.
- Bräunig, P. (1991). Subesophageal Dum Neurons Innervate the Principal Neuropils of the Locust Brain. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* 332(1264), 221-240.
- Carlsson, M.A., Diesner, M., Schachtner, J. & Nässel, D.R. (2010). Multiple Neuropeptides in the Drosophila Antennal Lobe Suggest Complex Modulatory Circuits. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 518(16), 3359-3380.
- Carlsson, M.A., Galizia, C.G. & Hansson, B.S. (2002). Spatial representation of odours in the antennal lobe of the moth Spodoptera littoralis (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *Chemical Senses* 27(3), 231-44.



- Carlsson, M.A. & Hansson, B.S. (2003). Dose-response characteristics of glomerular activity in the moth antennal lobe. *Chemical Senses* 28(4), 269-278.
- Cha, D.H., Linn, C.E., Teal, P.E.A., Zhang, A.J., Roelofs, W.L. & Loeb, G.M. (2011). Eavesdropping on Plant Volatiles by a Specialist Moth: Significance of Ratio and Concentration. *Plos One* 6(2).
- Chapman, R. (1998). The Insects structure and function. Fourth. ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Christensen, T.A., Waldrop, B.R., Harrow, I.D. & Hildebrand, J.G. (1993). Local interneurons and information processing in the olfactory glomeruli of the moth Manduca sexta. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology* 173(4), 385-99.
- Christensen, T.A., Waldrop, B.R. & Hildebrand, J.G. (1998a). GABAergic mechanisms that shape the temporal response to odors in moth olfactory projection neurons. In: *Olfaction and Taste Xii.* pp. 475-481. New York: New York Acad Sciences. (Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences; 855).
- Christensen, T.A., Waldrop, B.R. & Hildebrand, J.G. (1998b). Multitasking in the olfactory system: Context-dependent responses to odors reveal dual GABA-regulated coding mechanisms in single olfactory projection neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience* 18(15), 5999-6008.
- Christensen, T.A. & White, J.R. (2000). Representation of olfactory information in the brain. In: Finger, T.E., et al. (Eds.) The neurobiology of taste and smell. pp. 201-232. New York: Wiley-Liss Inc.
- Clark, J. & Lange, A.B. (2002). Evidence for the association of FMRFamide-related peptides with the spermatheca of Locusta migratoria. *Peptides* 23(4), 613-9.
- Clark, L., Lange, A.B., Zhang, J.R. & Tobe, S.S. (2008). The roles of Dippu-allatostatin in the modulation of hormone release in Locusta migratoria. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 54(6), 949-58.
- Coronas, V., Krantic, S., Jourdan, F. & Moyse, E. (1999). Dopamine receptor coupling to adenylyl cyclase in rat olfactory pathway: a combined pharmacological-radioautographic approach. *Neuroscience* 90(1), 69-78.
- Couto, A., Alenius, M. & Dickson, B.J. (2005). Molecular, anatomical, and functional organization of the Drosophila olfactory system. *Current Biology* 15(17), 1535-1547.
- Dacks, A.M., Christensen, T.A., Agricola, H.-J., Wollweber, L. & Hildebrand, J.G. (2005). Octopamine-immunoreactive neurons in the brain and subesophageal ganglion of the hawkmoth Manduca sexta. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 488(3), 255-268.
- Dacks, A.M., Christensen, T.A. & Hildebrand, J.G. (2008). Modulation of olfactory information processing in the antennal lobe of Manduca sexta by serotonin. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 99(5), 2077-2085.
- de Belle, J.S. & Kanzaki, R. (1999). Protocerebral Olfactory Processing. In: Hansson, B.S. (Ed.) Insect Olfaction. pp. 243-282. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer.
- Donini, A. & Lange, A.B. (2004). Evidence for a possible neurotransmitter/neuromodulator role of tyramine on the locust oviducts. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 50(4), 351-61.



- Downer, R.G.H., Hiripi, L. & Juhos, S. (1993). Characterization of the Tyraminergic System in the Central-Nervous-System of the Locust, Locusta-Migratoria-Migratoides. *Neurochemical Research* 18(12), 1245-1248.
- Duportets, L., Dufour, M.C., Couillaud, F. & Gadenne, C. (1998). Biosynthetic activity of corpora allata, growth of sex accessory glands and mating in the male moth Agrotis ipsilon (Hufnagel). *Journal of Experimental Biology* 201(16), 2425-2432.
- Eisenhardt, D., Kuehn, C. & Leboulle, G. (2006). The PKA-CREB system encoded by the honeybee genome. *Insect Molecular Biology* 15(5), 551-561.
- Ejaz, A. & Lange, A.B. (2008). Peptidergic control of the heart of the stick insect, Baculum extradentatum. *Peptides* 29(2), 214-25.
- Erber, J., Kloppenburg, P. & Scheidler, A. (1993). Neuromodulation by serotonin and octopamine in the honeybee: Behaviour, neuroanatomy and electrophysiology. *Experientia* 49(12), 1073-1083.
- Fan, R.J., Anderson, P. & Hansson, B.S. (1997). Behavioural analysis of olfactory conditioning in the moth Spodoptera littoralis (Boisd.) (Lepidoptera : Noctuidae). *Journal of Experimental Biology* 200(23), 2969-2976.
- Fan, R.J. & Hansson, B.S. (2001). Olfactory discrimination conditioning in the moth Spodoptera littoralis. *Physiology & Behavior* 72(1-2), 159-65.
- Farooqui, T. (2007). Octopamine-mediated neuromodulation of insect senses. Neurochemical Research 32(9), 1511-1529.
- Farooqui, T., Robinson, K., Vaessin, H. & Smith, B.H. (2003). Modulation of early olfactory processing by an octopaminergic reinforcement pathway in the honeybee. *Journal of Neuroscience* 23(12), 5370-5380.
- Fischer, C.R. & King, B.H. (2008). Sexual inhibition in Spalangia endius males after mating and time for ejaculate replenishment. *Journal of Insect Behavior* 21(1), 1-8.
- Friedrich, R.W., Habermann, C.J. & Laurent, G. (2004). Multiplexing using synchrony in the zebrafish olfactory bulb. *Nature Neuroscience* 7(8), 862-871.
- Friedrich, R.W. & Laurent, G. (2001). Dynamic optimization of odor representations by slow temporal patterning of mitral cell activity. *Science* 291(5505), 889-894.
- Friedrich, R.W. & Laurent, G. (2004). Dynamics of olfactory bulb input and output activity during odor stimulation in zebrafish. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 91(6), 2658-2669.
- Fuse, M., Zhang, J.R., Partridge, E., Nachman, R.J., Orchard, I., Bendena, W.G. & Tobe, S.S. (1999). Effects of an allatostatin and a myosuppressin on midgut carbohydrate enzyme activity in the cockroach Diploptera punctata. *Peptides* 20(11), 1285-93.
- Gadenne, C., Dufour, M.C. & Anton, S. (2001). Transient post-mating inhibition of behavioural and central nervous responses to sex pheromone in an insect. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 268(1476), 1631-1635.
- Grosmaitre, X., Marion-Poll, F. & Renou, M. (2001). Biogenic amines modulate olfactory receptor neurons firing activity in Mamestra brassicae. *Chemical Senses* 26(6), 653-661.
- Gruntenko, N.E., Karpova, E.K., Adonyeva, N.V., Chentsova, N.A., Faddeeva, N.V., Alekseev, A.A. & Rauschenbach, I.Y. (2005a). Juvenile hormone, 20-hydroxyecdysone and dopamine interaction in Drosophila virilis reproduction under normal and nutritional stress conditions. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 51(4), 417-425.
- 40

- Gruntenko, N.E., Karpova, E.K., Alekseev, A.A., Chentsova, N.A., Saprykina, Z.V., Bownes, M. & Rauschenbach, I.Y. (2005b). Effects of dopamine on juvenile hormone metabolism and fitness in Drosophila virilis. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 51(9), 959-968.
- Gruntenko, N.E. & Rauschenbach, I.Y. (2008). Interplay of JH, 20E and biogenic amines under normal and stress conditions and its effect on reproduction. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 54(6), 902-908.
- Guerrieri, F., Gemeno, C., Monsempes, C., Anton, S., Jacquin-Joly, E., Lucas, P. & Devaud, J.M. (2012). Experience-dependent modulation of antennal sensitivity and input to antennal lobes in male moths (Spodoptera littoralis) pre-exposed to sex pheromone. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 215(13), 2334-2341.
- Han, K.A., Millar, N.S. & Davis, R.L. (1998). A novel octopamine receptor with preferential expression in Drosophila mushroom bodies. *Journal of Neuroscience* 18(10), 3650-3658.
- Hansson, B.S. & Anton, S. (2000). Function and morphology of the antennal lobe: New developments. *Annual Review of Entomology* 45, 203-231.
- Hansson, B.S., Anton, S. & Christensen, T.A. (1994). Structure and Function of Antennal Lobe Neurons in the Male Turnip Moth, Agrotis-Segetum (Lepidoptera, Noctuidae). Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology 175(5), 547-562.
- Hansson, B.S. & Christensen, T.A. (1999). Functional characteristics of the antennal lobe. In: Hansson, B.S. (Ed.) *Insect Olfaction*. pp. 125 - 161. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer.
- Harris, J.W. & Woodring, J. (1995). Elevated Brain Dopamine Levels Associated with Ovary Development in Queenless Worker Honey-Bees (Apis-Mellifera L). *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology C-Pharmacology Toxicology & Endocrinology* 111(2), 271-279.
- Heuer, C.M., Kollmann, M., Binzer, M. & Schachtner, J. (2012). Neuropeptides in insect mushroom bodies. *Arthropod Structure & Development* 41(3), 199-226.
- Hewes, R.S. & Taghert, P.H. (2001). Neuropeptides and neuropeptide receptors in the Drosophila melanogaster genome. *Genome Research* 11(6), 1126-1142.
- Hildebrandt, H. & Muller, U. (1995a). Octopamine Mediates Rapid Stimulation of Protein-Kinase-a in the Antennal Lobe of Honeybees. *Journal of Neurobiology* 27(1), 44-50.
- Hildebrandt, H. & Muller, U. (1995b). Pka Activity in the Antennal Lobe of Honeybees Is Regulated by Chemosensory Stimulation in-Vivo. *Brain Research* 679(2), 281-288.
- Hill, E.S., Iwano, M., Gatellier, L. & Kanzaki, R. (2002). Morphology and physiology of the serotonin-immunoreactive putative antennal lobe feedback neuron in the male silkmoth Bombyx mori. *Chemical Senses* 27(5), 475-83.
- Hill, E.S., Okada, K. & Kanzaki, R. (2003). Visualization of modulatory effects of serotonin in the silkmoth antennal lobe. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 206(2), 345-352.
- Hill, S.R. & Orchard, I. (2004). The influence of diet and feeding state on FMRFamide-related peptides in the gut of Locusta migratoria L. *Peptides* 25(1), 105-114.
- Homberg, U. (2002). Neurotransmitters and neuropeptides in the brain of the locust. *Microscopy Research and Technique* 56(3), 189-209.
- Homberg, U., Brandl, C., Clynen, E., Schoofs, L. & Veenstra, J.A. (2004). Mas-allatotropin/Lom-AG-myotropin I immunostaining in the brain of the locust, Schistocerca gregaria. *Cell and Tissue Research* 318(2), 439-57.

- Homberg, U., Kingan, T.G. & Hildebrand, J.G. (1990). Distribution of FMRFamide-like immunoreactivity in the brain and suboesophageal ganglion of the sphinx moth Manduca sexta and colocalization with SCPB-, BPP-, and GABA-like immunoreactivity. *Cell and Tissue Research* 259(3), 401-19.
- Homberg, U., Montague, R.A. & Hildebrand, J.G. (1988). Anatomy of Antenno-Cerebral Pathways in the Brain of the Sphinx Moth Manduca-Sexta. *Cell and Tissue Research* 254(2), 255-281.
- Homberg, U. & Müller, U. (1999). Neuroactive substances in the antennal lobe. In: Hansson, B.S. (Ed.) *Insect Olfaction*. pp. 181-206. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer.
- Hsia, A.Y., Vincent, J.D. & Lledo, P.M. (1999). Dopamine depresses synaptic inputs into the olfactory bulb. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 82(2), 1082-1085.
- Ignell, R. (2001). Monoamines and neuropeptides in antennal lobe interneurons of the desert locust, Schistocerca gregaria: an immunocytochemical study. *Cell and Tissue Research* 306(1), 143-156.
- Ignell, R., Root, C.M., Birse, R.T., Wang, J.W., Nässel, D.R. & Winther, A.M.E. (2009). Presynaptic peptidergic modulation of olfactory receptor neurons in Drosophila. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106(31), 13070-13075.
- Iwano, M. & Kanzaki, R. (2005). Immunocytochemical identification of neuroactive substances in the antennal lobe of the male silkworm moth Bombyx mori. *Zoological Science* 22(2), 199-211.
- Johnson, E.C., Bohn, L.M., Barak, L.S., Birse, R.T., Nassel, D.R., Caron, M.G. & Taghert, P.H. (2003). Identification of Drosophila neuropeptide receptors by G protein-coupled receptorsbeta-arrestin2 interactions. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278(52), 52172-8.
- Kahsai, L., Carlsson, M.A., Winther, A.M.E. & Nässel, D.R. (2012). Distribution of Metabotropic Receptors of Serotonin, Dopamine, Gaba, Glutamate, and Short Neuropeptide F in the Central Complex of Drosophila. *Neuroscience* 208, 11-26.
- Kaissling, K.E. (1998). Flux detectors versus concentration detectors: Two types of chemoreceptors. *Chemical Senses* 23(1), 99-111.
- Kaissling, K.E. (2009). Olfactory perireceptor and receptor events in moths: a kinetic model revised. Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology 195(10), 895-922.
- Kanzaki, R., Arbas, E.A. & Hildebrand, J.G. (1991). Physiology and morphology of protocerebral olfactory neurons in the male moth *Manduca sexta*. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology* 168(3), 281-298.
- Kanzaki, R., Arbas, E.A., Strausfeld, N.J. & Hildebrand, J.G. (1989). Physiology and morphology of projection neurons in the antennal lobe of the male moth *Manduca sexta*. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology* 165(4), 427-453.
- Keil, T.A. (1984). Very Tight Contact of Tormogen Cell-Membrane and Sensillum Cuticle -Ultrastructural Basis for High Electrical-Resistance between Receptor-Lymph and Subcuticular Spaces in Silkmoth Olfactory Hairs. *Tissue & Cell* 16(1), 131-135.
- Keil, T.A. (1999). Morphology and development of the peripheral olfactory organs. In: Hansson, B.S. (Ed.) *Insect Olfaction*. pp. 5-47. Heidelberg Berlin: Springer.

- Keil, T.A. & Steinbrecht, R.A. (1987). Diffusion-Barriers in Silkmoth Sensory Epithelia -Application of Lanthanum Tracer to Olfactory Sensilla of Antheraea-Polyphemus and Bombyx-Mori. *Tissue & Cell* 19(1), 119-134.
- Klemm, N. (1976). Histochemistry of putative transmitter substances in the insect brain. *Prog Neurobiol* 7(2), 99-169.
- Kloppenburg, P., Ferns, D. & Mercer, A.R. (1999). Serotonin enhances central olfactory neuron responses to female sex pheromone in the male sphinx moth Manduca sexta. *Journal of Neuroscience* 19(19), 8172-8181.
- Kloppenburg, P. & Mercer, A.R. (2008). Serotonin modulation of moth central olfactory neurons. *Annual Review of Entomology* 53, 179-190.
- Kokay, I.C. & Mercer, A.R. (1996). Characterisation of dopamine receptors in insect (Apis mellifera) brain. *Brain Research* 706(1), 47-56.
- Kreissl, S., Eichmuller, S., Bicker, G., Rapus, J. & Eckert, M. (1994). Octopamine-Like Immunoreactivity in the Brain and Subesophageal Ganglion of the Honeybee. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 348(4), 583-595.
- Krieger, J., Klink, O., Mohl, C., Raming, K. & Breer, H. (2003). A candidate olfactory receptor subtype highly conserved across different insect orders. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology* 189(7), 519-526.
- Kutsukake, M., Komatsu, A., Yamamoto, D. & Ishiwa-Chigusa, S. (2000). A tyramine receptor gene mutation causes a defective olfactory behavior in Drosophila melanogaster. *Gene* 245(1), 31-42.
- Kwok, R., Nässel, D.R., Lange, A.B. & Orchard, I. (1999). Locustatachykinin isoforms in the locust: distribution and quantification in the central nervous system and action on the oviduct muscle. *Peptides* 20(6), 687-94.
- Lachmann, A.D. (2000). Mating and remating in Coproica vagans (Diptera, Sphaeroceridae). Invertebrate Reproduction & Development 37(3), 233-240.
- Lange, A.B. (2001). Feeding state influences the content of FMRFamide- and tachykinin-related peptides in endocrine-like cells of the midgut of Locusta migratoria. *Peptides* 22(2), 229-34.
- Lange, A.B. (2009). Tyramine: From octopamine precursor to neuroactive chemical in insects. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 162(1), 18-26.
- Larsson, M.C., Domingos, A.I., Jones, W.D., Chiappe, M.E., Amrein, H. & Vosshall, L.B. (2004). Or83b encodes a broadly expressed odorant receptor essential for Drosophila olfaction. *Neuron* 43(5), 703-714.
- Lehman, H.K., Murgiuc, C.M. & Hildebrand, J.G. (2000). Characterization and developmental regulation of tyramine-beta-hydroxylase in the CNS of the moth, Manduca sexta. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 30(5), 377-386.
- Linn, C.E., Campbell, M.G. & Roelofs, W.L. (1992). Photoperiod Cues and the Modulatory Action of Octopamine and 5-Hydroxytryptamine on Locomotor and Pheromone Response in Male Gypsy Moths, Lymantria-Dispar. *Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology* 20(4), 265-284.
- Linn, C.E. & Roelofs, W.L. (1992). Role of Photoperiod Cues in Regulating the Modulatory Action of Octopamine on Pheromone-Response Thresholds in the Cabbage-Looper Moth. *Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology* 20(4), 285-302.

- Linn, C.E.J. & Roelofs, W.L. (1986). Modulatory effects of octopamine and serotonin on male sensitivity and periodicity of response to sex pheromone in the cabbage looper moth *Trichoplusia ni. Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology* 3(2), 161-172.
- Livingstone, M.S. & Tempel, B.L. (1983). Genetic dissection of monoamine neurotransmitter synthesis in Drosophila. *Nature* 303(5912), 67-70.
- Macmillan, C.S. & Mercer, A.R. (1987). An Investigation of the Role of Dopamine in the Antennal Lobes of the Honeybee Apis-Mellifera. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology* 160(3), 359-366.
- Malo, E.A., Renou, M. & Guerrero, A. (2000). Analytical studies of Spodoptera littoralis sex pheromone components by electroantennography and coupled gas chromatographyelectroantennographic detection. *Talanta* 52(3), 525-532.
- Mania-Farnell, B.L., Farbman, A.I. & Bruch, R.C. (1993). Bromocriptine, a dopamine D2 receptor agonist, inhibits adenylyl cyclase activity in rat olfactory epithelium. *Neuroscience* 57(1), 173-80.
- Marder, E., Calabrese, R.L., Nusbaum, M.P. & Trimmer, B. (1987). Distribution and Partial Characterization of Fmrfamide-Like Peptides in the Stomatogastric Nervous Systems of the Rock Crab, Cancer-Borealis, and the Spiny Lobster, Panulirus-Interruptus. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 259(1), 150-163.
- Matsumoto, S.G. & Hildebrand, J.G. (1981). Olfactory Mechanisms in the Moth Manduca-Sexta -Response Characteristics and Morphology of Central Neurons in the Antennal Lobes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* 213(1192), 249-&.
- McNeil, J.N. & Tobe, S.S. (2001). Flights of fancy: possible roles of allatostatin and allatotropin in migration and reproductive success of Pseudaletia unipuncta. *Peptides* 22(2), 271-277.
- Menzel, R. (2001). Searching for the memory trace in a mini-brain, the honeybee. *Learning & Memory* 8(2), 53-62.
- Menzel, R., Michelsen, B., Rüffer, P. & Sugawa, M. (1988). Neuropharmacology of learning and memory in honey bees. In: Hertting, G., et al. (Eds.) NATO ASI series H19, Modulation of Synaptic Plasticity in Nervous Systems. pp. 332-350. Berlin: Springer Verlag.
- Mercer, A.R. & Flanagan, D. (1988). Dopamine and 5-Hydroxytryptamine in the Brain of the Honeybee, Apis-Mellifera - a Review. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology C-Pharmacology Toxicology & Endocrinology* 91(1), 133-137.
- Mercer, A.R., Hayashi, J.H. & Hildebrand, J.G. (1995). Modulatory Effects of 5-Hydroxytryptamine on Voltage-Activated Currents in Cultured Antennal Lobe Neurons of the Sphinx Moth Manduca-Sexta. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 198(3), 613-627.
- Mercer, A.R., Kloppenburg, P. & Hildebrand, J.G. (1996). Serotonin-induced changes in the excitability of cultured antennal-lobe neurons of the sphinx moth Manduca sexta. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology* 178(1), 21-31.
- Mercer, A.R. & Menzel, R. (1982). The Effects of Biogenic Amines on Conditioned and Unconditioned Responses to Olfactory Stimuli in the Honey Bee Apis-Mellifera. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology* 145(3), 363-368.



- Missale, C., Nash, S.R., Robinson, S.W., Jaber, M. & Caron, M.G. (1998). Dopamine receptors: From structure to function. *Physiological Reviews* 78(1), 189-225.
- Nagaya, Y., Kutsukake, M., Chigusa, S.I. & Komatsu, A. (2002). A trace amine, tyramine, functions as a neuromodulator in Drosophila melanogaster. *Neuroscience Letters* 329(3), 324-328.
- Nakagawa, T., Sakurai, T., Nishioka, T. & Touhara, K. (2005). Insect sex-pheromone signals mediated by specific combinations of olfactory receptors. *Science* 307(5715), 1638-1642.
- Nakagawa, T. & Vosshall, L.B. (2009). Controversy and consensus: noncanonical signaling
- mechanisms in the insect olfactory system. Current Opinion in Neurobiology 19(3), 284-292.
  Nassel, D.R. & Winther, A.M.E. (2010). Drosophila neuropeptides in regulation of physiology and behavior. Progress in Neurobiology 92(1), 42-104.
- Nef, P., Hermansborgmeyer, I., Artierespin, H., Beasley, L., Dionne, V.E. & Heinemann, S.F. (1992). Spatial pattern of receptor expression in the olfactory epithelium. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 89(19), 8948-8952.
- Neupert, S., Fusca, D., Schachtner, J., Kloppenburg, P. & Predel, R. (2012). Toward a single-cellbased analysis of neuropeptide expression in Periplaneta americana antennal lobe neurons. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 520(4), 694-716.
- Neupert, S., Johard, H.A., Nässel, D.R. & Predel, R. (2007). Single-cell peptidomics of drosophila melanogaster neurons identified by Gal4-driven fluorescence. *Analytical Chemistry* 79(10), 3690-4.
- Nässel, D.R. (1988). Serotonin and serotonin-immunoreactive neurons in the nervous system of insects. *Progress in Neurobiology* 30(1), 1-85.
- Nässel, D.R. (2002). Neuropeptides in the nervous system of Drosophila and other insects: multiple roles as neuromodulators and neurohormones. *Progress in Neurobiology* 68(1), 1-84.
- Nässel, D.R. & Homberg, U. (2006). Neuropeptides in interneurons of the insect brain. *Cell and Tissue Research* 326(1), 1-24.
- Nässel, D.R. & Winther, A.M. (2002). Neuronal co-localization of different isoforms of tachykinin-related peptides (LemTRPs) in the cockroach brain. *Cell and Tissue Research* 308(2), 225-39.
- Nässel, D.R. & Winther, A.M. (2010). Drosophila neuropeptides in regulation of physiology and behavior. *Progress in Neurobiology* 92(1), 42-104.
- Ochieng, S.A., Anderson, P. & Hansson, B.S. (1995). Antennal lobe projection patterns of olfactory receptor neurons involved in sex pheromone detection in Spodoptera littoralis (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *Tissue and Cell* 27(2), 221-32.
- Olsen, S.R., Bhandawat, V. & Wilson, R.I. (2007). Excitatory interactions between olfactory processing channels in the Drosophila antennal lobe. *Neuron* 54(1), 89-103.
- Olsen, S.R. & Wilson, R.I. (2008). Lateral presynaptic inhibition mediates gain control in an olfactory circuit. *Nature* 452(7190), 956-U3.
- Orchard, I. & Lange, A.B. (1984). Cyclic-Amp in Locust Fat-Body Correlation with Octopamine and Adipokinetic Hormones during Flight. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 30(12), 901-904.
- Osborne, R.H. (1996). Insect neurotransmission: Neurotransmitters and their receptors. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 69(2), 117-142.



- Pitts, R.J., Fox, A.N. & Zwiebel, L.J. (2004). A highly conserved candidate chemoreceptor expressed in both olfactory and gustatory tissues in the malaria vector Anopheles gambiae. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101(14), 5058-5063.
- Pophof, B. (2000). Octopamine modulates the sensitivity of silkmoth pheromone receptor neurons. Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology 186(3), 307-313.
- Pophof, B. (2002). Octopamine enhances moth olfactory responses to pheromones, but not those to general odorants. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural,* and Behavioral Physiology 188(8), 659-662.
- Predel, R., Neupert, S., Garczynski, S.F., Crim, J.W., Brown, M.R., Russell, W.K., Kahnt, J., Russell, D.H. & Nachman, R.J. (2010). Neuropeptidomics of the Mosquito Aedes aegypti. *Journal of Proteome Research* 9(4), 2006-2015.
- Rauschenbach, I.Y., Bogomolova, E.V., Karpova, E.K., Adonyeva, N.V., Faddeeva, N.V., Menshanov, P.N. & Gruntenko, N.E. (2011). Mechanisms of age-specific regulation of dopamine metabolism by juvenile hormone and 20-hydroxyecdysone in Drosophila females. J Comp Physiol B 181(1), 19-26.
- Reisenman, C.E., Riffell, J.A., Bernays, E.A. & Hildebrand, J.G. (2010). Antagonistic effects of floral scent in an insect-plant interaction. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* 277(1692), 2371-2379.
- Roeder, T. (1994). Biogenic amines and their receptors in insects. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology C-Pharmacology Toxicology & Endocrinology 107(1), 1-12.
- Roeder, T. (1999). Octopamine in invertebrates. Progress in Neurobiology 59(5), 533-561.
- Roeder, T. (2005). Tyramine and octopamine: Ruling behavior and metabolism. Annual Review of Entomology 50, 447-477.
- Roeder, T. & Nathanson, J.A. (1993). Characterization of Insect Neuronal Octopamine Receptors (Oa3 Receptors). *Neurochemical Research* 18(8), 921-925.
- Roeder, T., Seifert, M., Kahler, C. & Gewecke, M. (2003). Tyramine and octopamine: Antagonistic modulators of behavior and metabolism. *Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology* 54(1), 1-13.
- Roelofs, W.L. & Linn, C.E.J. (1987). Neuroactive substances as probes of central thresholds in sex pheromone perception. In: *Law, J. H.* pp. 67-78. (UCLA (University of California Los Angeles) Symposia on Molecular and Cellular Biology New Series.
- Root, C.M., Ko, K.I., Jafari, A. & Wang, J.W. (2011). Presynaptic Facilitation by Neuropeptide Signaling Mediates Odor-Driven Food Search. *Cell* 145(1), 133-144.
- Rospars, J.-P., Gu, Y., Gremiaux, A. & Lucas, P. (2010). Odour Transduction in Olfactory Receptor Neurons. *Chinese Journal of Physiology* 53(6), 364-372.
- Rospars, J.P. & Hildebrand, J.G. (2000). Sexually dimorphic and isomorphic glomeruli in the antennals lobes of the sphinx moth *Manduca sexta*. *Chemical Senses* 25, 119-129.
- Sachse, S. & Galizia, C.G. (2002). Role of inhibition for temporal and spatial odor representation in olfactory output neurons: A calcium imaging study. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 87(2), 1106-1117.

- Salama, H.S., Dimetry, N.Z. & Salem, S.A. (1971). On the host preference and biology of the cotton leaf worm Spodoptera littoralis. *Zeitschrift fuer Angewandte Entomologie* 67(3), 261-266.
- Salecker, I. & Distler, P. (1990). Serotonin-Immunoreactive Neurons in the Antennal Lobes of the American Cockroach Periplaneta-Americana - Light-Microscopic and Electron-Microscopic Observations. *Histochemistry* 94(5), 463-473.
- Sands, W.A. & Palmer, T.M. (2008). Regulating gene transcription in response to cyclic AMP elevation. *Cellular Signalling* 20(3), 460-466.
- Sasaki, K. & Nagao, T. (2001). Distribution and levels of dopamine and its metabolites in brains of reproductive workers in honeybees. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 47(10), 1205-1216.
- Sasaki, K., Yamasaki, K. & Nagao, T. (2007). Neuro-endocrine correlates of ovarian development and egg-laying behaviors in the primitively eusocial wasp (Polistes chinensis). *Journal of Insect Physiology* 53(9), 940-9.
- Schachtner, J., Schmidt, M. & Homberg, U. (2005). Organization and evolutionary trends of primary olfactory brain centers in Tetraconata (Crustacea plus Hexapoda). *Arthropod Structure & Development* 34(3), 257-299.
- Schachtner, J., Trosowski, B., D'Hanis, W., Stubner, S. & Homberg, U. (2004). Development and steroid regulation of RFamide inummoreactivity in antennal-lobe neurons of the sphinx moth Manduca sexta. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 207(14), 2389-2400.
- Schafer, S. & Rehder, V. (1989). Dopamine-like immunoreactivity in the brain and suboesophageal ganglion of the honeybee. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 280(1), 43-58.
- Schlenstedt, J., Balfanz, S., Baumann, A. & Blenau, W. (2006). Am5-HT7: molecular and pharmacological characterization of the first serotonin receptor of the honeybee (Apis mellifera). *Journal of Neurochemistry* 98(6), 1985-1998.
- Serguera, C., Triaca, V., Kelly-Barrett, J., Banchaabouchi, M.A. & Minichiello, L. (2008). Increased dopamine after mating impairs olfaction and prevents odor interference with pregnancy. *Nature Neuroscience* 11(8), 949-56.
- Shang, Y., Claridge-Chang, A., Sjulson, L., Pypaert, M. & Miesenbock, G. (2007). Excitatory local circuits and their implications for olfactory processing in the fly antennal lobe. *Cell* 128(3), 601-612.
- Siju, K.P., Hansson, B.S. & Ignell, R. (2008). Immunocytochemical localization of serotonin in the central and peripheral chemosensory system of mosquitoes. *Arthropod Structure & Development* 37(4), 248-259.
- Silbering, A.F. & Benton, R. (2010). Ionotropic and metabotropic mechanisms in chemoreception: 'chance or design'? *Embo Reports* 11(3), 173-179.
- Spit, J., Badisco, L., Verlinden, H., Van Wielendaele, P., Zels, S., Dillen, S. & Vanden Broeck, J. (2012). Peptidergic control of food intake and digestion in insects. *Canadian Journal of Zoology-Revue Canadienne De Zoologie* 90(4), 489-506.
- Stay, B. & Tobe, S.S. (2007). The role of allatostatins in juvenile hormone synthesis in insects and crustaceans. In: *Annual Review of Entomology*. pp. 277-299. (Annual Review of Entomology; 52).
- Stengl, M. (2010). Pheromone transduction in moths. Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience 4.

- Stengl, M., Ziegelberger, G., Boekhoff, I. & Krieger, J. (1999). Perireceptor events and transduction mechanisms in insect olfaction. In: Hansson, B.S. (Ed.) *Insect olfaction*. pp. 49-66. Heidelberg Berlin: Springer.
- Stopfer, M., Jayaraman, V. & Laurent, G. (2003). Intensity versus identity coding in an olfactory system. *Neuron* 39(6), 991-1004.
- Strausfeld, N.J., Hansen, L., Li, Y., Gomez, R.S. & Ito, K. (1998). Evolution, discovery, and interpretations of arthropod mushroom bodies. *Learning and Memory* 5(1-2), 11-37.
- Sun, X.J., Tolbert, L.P. & Hildebrand, J.G. (1993). Ramification Pattern and Ultrastructural Characteristics of the Serotonin-Immunoreactive Neuron in the Antennal Lobe of the Moth Manduca-Sexta - a Laser-Scanning Confocal and Electron-Microscopic Study. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 338(1), 5-16.
- Tasin, M., Backman, A.C., Coracini, M., Casado, D., Ioriatti, C. & Witzgall, P. (2007). Synergism and redundancy in a plant volatile blend attracting grapevine moth females. *Phytochemistry* 68(2), 203-209.
- Taylor, D.J., Robinson, G.E., Logan, B.J., Laverty, R. & Mercer, A.R. (1992). Changes in Brain Amine Levels Associated with the Morphological and Behavioural Development of the Worker Honeybee. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural,* and Behavioral Physiology 170(6), 715-721.
- Terhzaz, S., Rosay, P., Goodwin, S.F. & Veenstra, J.A. (2007). The neuropeptide SIFamide modulates sexual behavior in Drosophila. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 352(2), 305-310.
- Todd, J.L. & Baker, T.C. (1999). Function of peripheral olfactory organs. In: Hansson, B.S. (Ed.) Insect olfaction. pp. 67-96. Heidelberg Berlin: Springer.
- Vallone, D., Picetti, R. & Borrelli, E. (2000). Structure and function of dopamine receptors. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* 24(1), 125-132.
- Vanden Broeck, J. (2001). Neuropeptides and their precursors in the fruitfly, Drosophila melanogaster. *Peptides* 22(2), 241-254.
- Verleyen, P., Huybrechts, J., Baggerman, G., Van Lommel, A., De Loof, A. & Schoofs, L. (2004). SIFamide is a highly conserved neuropeptide: a comparative study in different insect species. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 320(2), 334-341.
- Vosshall, L.B. & Hansson, B.S. (2011). A Unified Nomenclature System for the Insect Olfactory Coreceptor. *Chemical Senses* 36(6), 497-498.
- Waldrop, B., Christensen, T.A. & Hildebrand, J.G. (1987). Gaba-Mediated Synaptic Inhibition of Projection Neurons in the Antennal Lobes of the Sphinx Moth, Manduca-Sexta. *Journal of Comparative Physiology a-Sensory Neural and Behavioral Physiology* 161(1), 23-32.
- Wicher, D., Schafer, R., Bauernfeind, R., Stensmyr, M.C., Heller, R., Heinemann, S.H. & Hansson, B.S. (2008). Drosophila odorant receptors are both ligand-gated and cyclicnucleotide-activated cation channels. *Nature* 452(7190), 1007-U10.
- Wilson, R.I. & Laurent, G. (2005). Role of GABAergic inhibition in shaping odor-evoked spatiotemporal patterns in the Drosophila antennal lobe. *Journal of Neuroscience* 25(40), 9069-79.
- Wilson, R.I., Turner, G.C. & Laurent, G. (2004). Transformation of olfactory representations in the Drosophila antennal lobe. *Science* 303(5656), 366-70.



- Winther, A.M.E., Acebes, A. & Ferrus, A. (2006). Tachykinin-related peptides modulate odor perception and locomotor activity in Drosophila. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience* 31(3), 399-406.
- Winther, A.M.E. & Ignell, R. (2010). Local peptidergic signaling in the antennal lobe shapes olfactory behavior. *Fly* 4(2), 167-171.
- Wright, G.A., Mustard, J.A., Simcock, N.K., Ross-Taylor, A.A.R., McNicholas, L.D., Popescu, A. & Marion-Poll, F. (2010). Parallel Reinforcement Pathways for Conditioned Food Aversions in the Honeybee. *Current Biology* 20(24), 2234-2240.

### Acknowledgements

Rickard: 6 måneder blev til 7 år, hvem skulle have troet det? Men det beviser vel bare, at jeg ikke har nogen fornemmelse for tid. Mange tak for de (mange) gode år, din entusiasme, din store hjælpsomhed og forskajak, uden din handledning havde det ikke blevet til noget. En epoke slutter nu.

Ylva: Som en anden mor, når man kommer langvejs fra. Tak for de venlige ord og opløftende bemærkninger, når jeg havde mest brug for dem. Synd du ikke er i Alnarp her den sidste tid, men jeg ønsker dig alt mulig held og lykke i Nigeria.

Tina, Martin og Marie: Kvalitetstid på kontoret bliver aldrig helt det samme igen. Hvem skal jeg nu sladre med, drikke kaffe og være generel ineffektiv med? Mange tak til jer alle tre for hyggelige aftner i godt selskab.

Sharon and Bill: Thank you both so very much for all your help throughout the years, both in the house in Alnarp and later on in separate cities. Thanks for all the dinners, movies, photo shoots and reminding me, that there is a life after lab. Thank you for everything!

Peter A: På papiret var du egentligt min bihandleder, men jeg tror ikke vi har snakket meget videnskab igennem årene. Til gengæld er det blevet til en del Monty Python. Tak for de altid sjove luncher og kaffe pauser. And now for something completely different...

Saveer: Thank you! You have been a perfect collaborator and a dear friend. I wish you and your family all the best, wherever you might end up.

Siju and Kevin: Together with Sharon, Bill and Saveer, we had the best of times in the house in Alnarp. I will always treasure the memories of fun, relaxation and pan cake dinners.

Elin og Martin: Altid klar på en kop kaffe og lidt skvaller. Tak for, at det ikke bare har været videnskab det hele.

Elisabeth og Rita: Nu hvor det kun er Tina, der er tilbage, så bliver det vel lidt nemmere at huske os fra hinanden? Tak for al hjælpen med oddlingen og det svenske bureaukrati. Efter 7 år har jeg stadig ikke lært at snakke svensk, men vecka og uge kan sagtens bruges i samme sætning, ikke?

Chemical Ecology group, past and present members: Thank you all so much. It has been a pleasure to know you all.

Groups and collaborators at Plant Protection Biology and in Lund, Jena and Versailles: Thank you all.

Familien derhjemme: Tak for, at I altid har været der for mig. Uden jeres hjælp og støtte havde jeg aldrig været hvor jeg er nu. Tak!

To all I might have forgotten: a big thanks you to you too.